IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## LEO LOUIS KACZMAR III,

Appellant,

v.

**CASE NO. SC10-2269** 

#### STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

/

## **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0271543 301 SOUTH MONROE ST., SUITE 401 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 606-8517

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

# **

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

A three count Indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Clay County on March 2, 2009, charged Leo Louis Kaczmar, II, with first-degree murder, arson, and attempted sexual battery (1 R 9). The State also filed a notice that if the defendant were convicted of the murder allegation, it would seek to have the court impose a sentence of death for that offense (1 R 41). Kaczmar filed several pretrial motions, and the one most significant for this appeal was:

 A Motion and Amended Motion to Dismiss Count 3 of the Indictment: Attempted Sexual Battery (3 R 519, 5 R 836). Filed pursuant to Rule 3.190(c)(4) Fla. R. Crim. P. Traversed (7 R 1148). Denied (8 R 1370).

Kaczmar was tried before Judge William Wilkes, and the jury found the defendant guilty as charged on the three counts (8 R 1494). He then proceeded to the penalty phase of his trial. The jury recommended, by a vote of 11-1, that the court impose a sentence of death (8 R 1499).

It followed that recommendation, and justifying a sentence of death, it found in aggravation:

1. Kaczmar had a prior conviction for robbery

2. The murder was committed during the course of an attempted sexual battery

3. The murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.

4. The murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (9 R 1583–85)

In mitigation the court found and gave slight weight to the following:

1. Kaczmar was raised by an alcoholic father who was physically and emotionally abusive.

2. He was emotionally traumatized as a child when he saw his grandfather drown and his mother shoot his father.

3. He had been taught to lie in court.

4. He and his mother lacked a normal mother-son bonding relationship.

5. He was kind to animals.

6. He was loyal to friends.

7. He was a good, reliable business partner.

8. He had a loving relationship with his aunt.

9. He had been protective of younger members of his family.

10. He suffered from the long term effects of illegal drug abuse.

11. On the night of the murder he was impaired by illegal drugs

12. He had never had any professional mental health counseling or treatment

13. He demonstrated respectful behavior in court.

 $(9 \text{ R} 1591-95)^1$ 

As to the arson conviction, the court sentenced Kaczmar to 30 years in prison. It imposed a 15-year sentence for the attempted sexual battery (9 R 1596-97). All sentences are to run concurrently.

This appeal follows.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The court rejected as unproven the statutory mental mitigators of extreme emotional disturbance and capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct (9 R 1587-89). It also rejected the age mitigator (9 R 1590). It said Kaczmar had not proven the following nonstatutory mitigators: 1. The effects of being sentenced to an adult prison as a juvenile, 2. Lack of adult male mentors as a teenager and young adult. 3. Emotionally torn by periods of parental abuse and overindulgence, 4. Good prison inmate. 5. Disparate treatment of the codefendant (9 R 1587-96).

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

By December 12, 2008, Priscilla and Leo Kaczmar had been married five years, and they had two children (14 R 331). They lived in a house on Dothan Road in Green Cove Springs with his father; Maria Ruiz, his father's girlfriend; and his uncle Ed (15 R 464). Maria was quiet, and stayed mostly in her bedroom knitting or doing bead work (14 R 333-34; 15 R 465, 473). No one ever saw her argue with the defendant (15 R 465).

That day was a Friday, and, as was usual, Priscilla took the children to visit and stay with their grandmother for the night (14 R 335). The defendant's father was in the hospital and Maria was at home in her room (15 R 465). For Leo, it was his time to be with his friends, and that meant Ryan Modlin (14 R 334-5). About 1:00 p.m. the two men smoked some marijuana (15 R 468). Later, about 5 p.m., they drove to Jacksonville where Kaczmar bought some cocaine, which both men used and got high (15 R 469-71). They returned to the defendant's home, and Modlin left but returned about 9 p.m. (15 R 467). He went into Kaczmar's bedroom and saw marijuana and cocaine, some of which they used (15 R 474). By now the defendant had become "real paranoid" (15 R 475), and had poked holes in his bed, trying to find something. He also paced up and down the hall, and looked outside windows (15 R 475). For the most part, though, the two men stayed in Kaczmar's bedroom using cocaine. The defendant said he wanted to get Maria back there to get her to use some of the drug and have sex with her (15 R 477). He was also watching a pornographic movie and had turned the volume up so loud that it could be heard throughout the house (15 R 475). He called her name out loud two or three times (15 R 478). At some point, he got on his hands and knees and was wiping the floor, thinking that Maria had overfilled the bathtub and water was now in his closet (15 R 478).

Modlin went home about 11 p.m., and after watching a movie, eventually went to sleep (15 R 479).

About 5 a.m. neighbors were awakened by loud, deep voices, cursing, screams, and sounds like someone was having an argument and kicking a hollow door, coming from the house where Kaczmar lived (14 R 317-20). They did not think it a "big deal," and went back to sleep (14 R 312, 319). They did so because what they heard sounded like the arguments they had heard for the past two months between Kaczmar and his uncle. As one neighbor said, "I just assumed it was Leo and his Uncle Ed into another fight. . . . I went back to sleep. . . . It was Saturday morning." (14 R 312)

About an hour later, or sometime after 6:00 a.m., another neighbor saw the house on fire (14 R 291-92). The fire and police departments were called and

eventually the blaze was extinguished. When the police went inside they found the partially burned body of Maria Ruiz in the kitchen (14 R 363, 15 R 427-28). It also had at least 90-100 knife inflicted wounds, several of which could have caused her death (14 R 219, 15 R 431).

A subsequent autopsy revealed that those injuries and not the fired had killed her. That is she was dead before the fire started (15 R 428, 451). She had several fatal "cuts and stabs" about her neck (15 R 430). There were also some knife wounds to her chest and back, five of which went into her lungs and others cut three major arteries (15 R 436-37). She had stab wounds to her head and face as well as some evidence of blunt force trauma (15 R 437-38). Several of the injuries would, by themselves, have been fatal, and Ms. Ruiz probably lost consciousness within seconds of receiving them (15 R 442-43).<sup>2</sup>

She had at least 10 defensive wounds on each of her hands (15 R 446-47), indicating she had "put up a significant fight." (15 R 448). There were, however, no injuries to her genitals, breasts, and anus, other than the burns (15 R 452). No unusual pubic hairs were found either (15 R 452).

Kaczmar was eventually arrested for the murder of Maria Ruiz. While in jail awaiting trial, he told another inmate, William Fillancia, much of what Modlin had said about their activities on December 12 and 13 (16 R 787). The defendant,

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  No blood was found in her lungs, indicating that she was probably dead or close to it when her throat was cut (15 R 443-44).

however, added more details regarding Ruiz. Specifically, he said that he wanted to have sex with her, and at that time, she shared a mattress with his father, which was in the living room (16 R 788). That evening, she was lying on the mattress, and he approached her and "started making passes at her" hoping "to get lucky." (16 R 788-89) They got into a shoving match, and she went to the bathroom (16 R 789). He pounded on the door and then went outside and knocked on the bathroom window. She left and went into the kitchen where they got into another shoving match. She grabbed a knife, and Kaczmar hit her in the head and grabbed the knife, cutting his thumb in the process (16 R 789).

Now he was "really angry," so he hit her again. Then, using a pocketknife he had in his pocket, he stabbed her (16 R 790).

Afterwards, he changed his clothes and buried them (16 R 791). He went to a gas station, bought \$2 worth of gas, and drove to a road behind his house where he parked his truck (16 R 793). He walked home, poured gasoline in the kitchen and made a line with the fuel to the outside (16 R 793). He then lit the gas. He returned to his truck and drove to his mother's house in Jacksonville, where the police found him (16 R 795).

When questioned, he told them he had been fishing, and the blood they saw on one of his socks came from an injury he had gotten while doing that (16 R 795-96). Despite this explanation, the police took the sock, and upon a DNA

examination, it was discovered that Ruiz's blood was on it (16 R 675).

Also, while in jail, the defendant told Fillancia that he wanted to plant some evidence that would shift the blame for the homicide onto Modlin (16 R 802). Fillancia told the police of this, and they had a Jacksonville Sheriff's deputy act in an undercover capacity contact Kaczmar about helping him (16 R 742). Over the course of four meetings, the defendant and the deputy agreed that the latter would get some clothes and boots that matched Modlin's sizes and plant them underneath an air conditioning unit presumably of Modlin's trailer (16 R 748). Priscilla Kaczmar, the defendant's wife, at his instruction (17 R 841), paid the law enforcement officer \$300 in two payments spread over a week's time (17 R 843). The deputy also agreed to ask and intimidate, if necessary, someone named "Jacob" to give favorable testimony for the defendant (16 R 757-58).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

**ISSUE I**: The State charged Kaczmar with committing an attempted sexual battery, and before trial, as well as at the end of the State's case in chief, he sought to dismiss that charge because there was insufficient evidence he had committed that crime. At best the prosecution proved only that he had harassed Maria Ruiz. With some persistence he bothered her to the point that she fled to the kitchen, got a knife, and threatened him with it. At no time did he make any overt acts to show he intended to sexually batter her. He never grabbed her, forced her to the ground, ripped or took off her clothes, or did anything else that showed he had progressed beyond calling her names and trying to "get lucky."

**ISSUE II**: Over defense objection, the court allowed the State to produce evidence of conversations between Kaczmar and his wife concerning plans to pay an undercover police officer \$300 to plant some evidence implicating a friend in the murder of Maria Ruiz. The State said the spousal privilege, as codified by \$90.504, Florida Statutes, did not protect conversations involving criminal activity. Yet, the three exceptions recognized by that section do just that. That is, none of them give the state the right to force a wife to testify against her husband regarding conversations they may have had about committing a crime or a conspiracy to commit a crime. Ordinary rules of statutory construction prevent the court from creating what the legislature has not seen fit to do.

**ISSUE III**: The court fundamentally erred when it failed to give the jury a complete instruction on the defense of "heat of passion." That is, a heat of passion defense can either be a complete defense to first-degree murder, or it can justify a finding of some lesser homicide. In this case, the court instructed the jury as to the defense to first-degree murder but omitted any guidance as to it also being a defense to a lesser type of homicide. That was particularly egregious here because Kaczmar's defense was that, although he had killed Maria Ruiz, he did not have a premeditated attempt to do so. As such, the court's failure to give the complete heat of passion instruction amounted to fundamental error.

**ISSUE IV**: During his closing argument, Kaczmar sought to raise a "heat of passion" defense, but the court prevented him from doing so because the defendant ostensibly was going to quote from opinions of appellate courts of this state. While the trial court is given some discretion in limiting the wide latitude given parties when making their closing arguments, the court in this case went too far. Kaczmar never planned to say something like "the courts of this state have said. . ." Instead, drawing from what those courts have written was and was not murder or heat of passion killings, he could use the facts in those cases as examples to support his argument. There is nothing wrong with doing that, but when then court limited what the defendant could say it effectively gutted his defense that he had killed

Maria Ruiz in the heat of passion.

**ISSUE V**: The court, at the prosecutor's request, excluded certain exculpatory statements Kaczmar made to an undercover police offer. That was error. Although, as a general rule of law, self-serving statements are inadmissible under §90.803(18) ,Fla. Stats. (2008), §90.108, Fla. Stats. (2008) requires the admission of such hearsay if in fairness it ought to be considered. In this case, the court's gave a curt "motion denied," when the defendant asked that the jury hear the complete conversation between the him and the police officer. It never, as it should have done, determined first if what the defendant said was self serving; and second, if it was, whether in fairness the jury should nonetheless have heard it.

**ISSUE VI**: The trial court, in justifying its sentence of death, found that Kaczmar committed the murder of Maria Ruiz in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. That was error. The evidence shows that there was only rage when he killed her. The evidence, similarly shows no careful plot to kill. The State proved, at most, that the defendant wanted to have sex with her and harassed her enough until she threatened him with a knife. After the killing, he may have devised a clumsy plan to destroy evidence of what he had done, but what he did then does not show he had some prearranged plan to kill her. Finally, the desire to have sex with the victim does not also translate into a heightened intent to kill her. At best, the

evidence shows that that unrealized intent turned into a rage killing only after she had confronted him with a knife, he had knocked it out of her hand, and had cut himself in the process. Whatever intent he had at that point was not the heightened premeditation this Court has required for a murder to become cold, calculated, and premeditated.

**ISSUE VII**: The State presented insufficient evidence that Kaczmar had a premeditated intent to kill Maria Ruiz. The events that occurred in the kitchen showed only that he killed her will malice or in the heat of passion. As such, he was guilty of second-degree murder.

**ISSUE VIII**: William Fillancia, the jailhouse informant, provided the crucial evidence that the defendant burned the house he lived in. Yet, Fillancia's testimony was so inherently unreliable that it could not provide sufficient, competent, substantial evidence to support the arson allegation.

**ISSUE IX**: This Court wrongly avoided the issues presented by <u>Ring v.</u> <u>Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), in <u>Bottoson v. Moore</u>, 833 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 2002), <u>cert. denied</u>, 123 S. Ct. 662 (2002), and <u>King v. Moore</u>, 831 So. 2d 143 (Fla. 2002), <u>cert denied</u>, 123 S. Ct. 657 (2002). Because <u>Ring</u> was an "intervening development of the law" this Court could determine its affects on Florida's death penalty scheme without incurring the wrath of the United States Supreme Court, as this Court was leery of doing in those state cases. When it conducts that examination, this Court should conclude that <u>Ring</u> requires <u>at least</u> unanimous jury recommendations of death. This Court should also find that even though the defendant may have a single valid aggravator, <u>Ring</u> still has relevance to the constitutionality of his death sentence.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### **ISSUE I:**

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING KACZMAR'S MOTION FOR A JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL FOR THE FIRST-DEGREE MURDER AND ATTEMPTED SEXUAL BATTERY ALLEGATIONS BECAUSE THE STATE FAILED TO PRESENT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE THAT THE DEFENDANT HAD ATTEMPTED TO SEXUALLY BATTER MARIA RUIZ, A VIOLATION OF HIS FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

The indictment in this case charged Kaczmar with the first-degree murder of Maria Ruiz by premeditation or during the course of an attempted sexual battery. It also alleged he had committed an attempted sexual battery (1 R 9-11). Before trial the defendant filed a motion and an amended motion to pursuant to Rule 3.190(c)(4), Fla. R. Crim. P., to dismiss the attempted sexual battery (3 R 519, 5 R 836). The State traversed that motion (7 R 1148), and the court denied it (8 R 1370).

At the close of the State's case in chief, Kaczmar moved for a judgment of acquittal for the same reasons as it had filed the motion to dismiss: the State had failed to present sufficient evidence he had attempted to sexually batter the victim (17 R 845-46). The court again denied that request (8 R 1381, 17 R 848). That was error, and this Court should review this issue under a <u>de novo</u> standard of review. <u>McDuffie v. State</u>, 970 So. 2d 312, 332 (Fla. 2007)

# A. The critical facts showing that Kaczmar attempted to sexually batter Maria Ruiz.

As presented at trial, on Friday, December 12, 2008, Kaczmar lived in a house on Dothan Road in Green Cove Springs with his father; Maria Ruiz, his father's girlfriend; and his uncle Ed (15 R 464). Maria was quiet, and stayed mostly in her bedroom knitting or doing bead work (14 R 333-34, 15 R 465, 473). No one ever saw her argue with the defendant (15 R 465).

That day, as was usual, Priscilla, the defendant's wife, took the children to visit and stay with their grandmother for the night (14 R 335). The defendant's father was in the hospital and Maria was at home in her room (15 R 465). For Leo, it was his time to be with his friends, and that meant Ryan Modlin (14 R 334-5). About 1 p.m. the two men smoked some marijuana (15 R 468). Later, about 5 p.m., the pair drove to Jacksonville where Kaczmar bought some cocaine, which both men used and got high (15 R 469-71). They drove back to the defendant's home, and Modlin left but returned about 9 p.m. (15 R 467). He went into Kaczmar's bedroom and saw some marijuana and cocaine, which they use (15 R 474). By now the defendant had become "real paranoid" (15 R 475), and had poked holes in his bed, trying to find something. He also paced up and down the hall, looking outside the windows (15 R 475).

For the most part, though, the two men stayed in Kaczmar's bedroom using cocaine. The defendant said he wanted to get Maria back there to get her to use

some of the drug and have sex with her (15 R 477). He was also watching a pornographic movie and had turned the volume up so loud that it could be heard throughout the house (15 R 475), and he called her name out loud two or three times (15 R 478). At some point, he got on his hands and knees and was wiping the floor, thinking that Maria had overfilled the bathtub because water was now in his closet (15 R 478).

Modlin went home about 11 p.m. and after watching a movie, eventually went to sleep (15 R 479).

About 5 a.m. some neighbors were awoken by loud, deep voices, cursing, screams, and sounds like someone was having an argument and kicking a hollow door coming from the house where Kaczmar lived (14 R 317-20). They did not think it a "big deal," and went back to sleep (14 R 312, 319). They did so because what they heard sounded like the altercations they had heard for the past two months between Kaczmar and his uncle. As one neighbor said, "I just assumed it was Leo and his Uncle Ed into another fight. . . . I went back to sleep. . . . It was Saturday morning." (14 R 312)

About an hour later, or sometime after 6 a.m., another neighbor saw that house on fire (14 R 291-92). The fire and police departments were called and eventually the blaze was extinguished. When the police went inside they found the partially burned body of Maria Ruiz in the kitchen (14 R 363, 15 R 427-28). It

also had at least 90-100 knife inflicted wounds, several of which could have caused her death (14 R 219, 15 R 431).

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