In the Supreme Court of Florida

LEO LOUIS KACZMAR III,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC10-2269

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.___/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

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

discussing the "widely accepted exception" to the marital confidential communications privilege, which permits witness-spouse testimony about confidential communications involving future or ongoing crimes in which the spouses were joint participants at the time of the communications. Evans, 966 F.2d at 401 quoting 2 Weinstein's Evidence 505-36 (1991). The Eighth Circuit characterized the rationale for the "partners in crime" exception as "compelling" explaining that the privilege was designed to "protect confidential marital communications in order to encourage the sharing of confidences between spouses." But where the communications involve the spouses' joint criminal activity, "the interests of justice outweigh the goal of fostering marital harmony." Evans, 966 F.2d at The Eighth Circuit noted that every circuit that has considered 401. the partners in crime exception to the marital confidential communications privilege has adopted it in one form or another. Evans, 966 F.2d at 401; but see Johnson v. State, 451 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) (refusing to engraft an criminal exception to the marital privilege because the statute does not except from the husband-wife privilege confidential communications between husband and wife made in furtherance of a crime); Smith v. State, 344 So.2d 915, 919 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977) (refusing, in a pre-evidence Code case, to recognize an exception to the marital privilege for communications made in the furtherance of a crime). Professor Ehrhardt endorses this exception stating that the "interests of justice would be served" if the marital privilege did not cover joint criminal activity. EHRHARDT, FLORIDA EVIDENCE at 466. Other commentators agree, explaining that where both

spouses are substantial participants in patently illegal activity, even the most expansive view of the marital privilege should not prevent testimony. Note, *Future Crime or Tort Exception to Communications Privilege*, 77 Harv.L.Rev. 730, 734 (1964).

Kaczmar's reliance on Jackson v. State, 603 So.2d 670, 671 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), is misplaced. Jackson involved the issue of whether a statement that was "incidental to" or "because of" the marital relationship were privileged. The Fourth District rejected that distinction. But that issue is not present in this case. The prosecutor did not argue that the wife's testimony was admission because it was only incidental to the marriage. Rather, the prosecutor relied on the crime exception to the privilege.

Harmless error

Violation of privileges are subject to harmless error. See United States v. Abram, 171 Fed.Appx. 304, 310, 2006 WL 690850, 4 (11th Cir. 2006); Kerlin v. State, 352 So.2d 45, 53 (Fla. 1977)(finding a violation of the marital privilege to be harmless). "To say that an error did not contribute to the verdict is, rather, to find that error unimportant in relation to everything else the jury considered on the issue in question, as revealed by the record." Yates v. Evatt, 500 U.S. 391, 403, 111 S.Ct. 1884, 1893, 114 L.Ed.2d 432 (1991). The jury would have heard much of the wife's testimony regardless of the marital privilege because much of her testimony was not covered by the privilege. United States v. Short, 4 F.3d 475, 479 (7th Cir 1993)(finding any violation of the marital privilege to be harmless where the "bulk of her crucial testimony" and other substantial

- 48 -

evidence against the defendant was properly admitted). It is only her testimony regarding what her husband told her about the plan that is at issue.

However, the wife's testimony regarding her husband's statements about the plan to fabricate evidence was cumulative to Bill Filancia's testimony that Kaczmar was planning to fabricate evidence. While acknowledging that the wife's testimony was cumulative to Filancia's testimony, Kaczmar asserts that the difference was Filancia's lack of credibility, but this ignores undercover Deputy Humphrey's testimony as well as the physical evidence. He asserts that the only evidence besides the wife's testimony regarding the scheme to plant evidence to frame Ryan Modlin was Filancia's testimony. IB at 29. This is a misreading of the record. Deputy Humphrey testified at length regarding the scheme including both his meetings with the defendant and his meetings with the defendant's wife.

Deputy Humphrey, acting undercover as Carlos, met with the defendant's wife on two occasions. Deputy Humphrey, acting undercover as Carlos, met with Kaczmar on four occasions. These conversations involved the defendant agreeing to pay "Carlos" in a scheme to frame Ryan Modlin for the murder of Maria. The meetings involved manufacturing and planting evidence. Those conversations were recorded and played for the jury. The jury heard about the scheme to frame Modlin straight out of the defendant's own mouth. Kaczmar does not point to even a single statement made by his wife during her

- 49 -

testimony that was not testified to by Deputy Humphrey as well during his testimony.⁴

Appellate counsel admits that the wife's testimony, minus his privilege claim, would be admissible to show consciousness of guilt. But consciousness of guilt in this case goes to identity of the perpetrator and there simply was never any doubt regarding that. As the prosecutor noted in closing, the physical evidence, including the DNA on the sock and the photographs from the Hess gas station showing the defendant purchasing the \$2.00 worth of gas to burn the trailer was evidence "alone which convicts" Kaczmar. (T. Vol. 17 962). As the prosecutor told the jury, the testimony of Modlin, Filancia, and the defendant's wife were all "just piling on." (T. Vol. 17 962).

The blood on Kaczmar's sock, taken from him by law enforcement on the day of the murder, had the victim's blood on it. The blood on his sock matched the victim's DNA profile at one in 880 billion Hispanics. Kaczmar's conduct of adding his own blood to the sock during the interview also shows consciousness of guilt. Additionally, the defendant had a fresh cut on his left thumb and cuts on his right hand,

⁴ Although he does not seem to be raising as part of this issue the wife's testimony regarding her husband calling her to tell her the house was on fire, that was largely cumulative as well. Teddy Modlin, a neighbor who lived near Kaczmar's grandmother house and who was Ryan's uncle, testified that his son Tom called the defendant to tell him about the fire and that a body was discovered. (T. Vol. 14 321-325). Teddy took the phone from his son at one point and during that conversation the defendant told him that his uncle was in the hospital, so the body must be that of his father's girlfriend Maria. Teddy Modlin testified that Kaczmar did not seem "very concerned" about the fire. (T. Vol. 14 326). His concern was that his kid's stuff was in the house. (T. Vol. 14 327). However, Kaczmar's focus is on the scheme to frame Ryan Modlin. IB at 29.

as well, which comports with the violent struggle that was part of this murder. These are all hard facts, objectively documented, that do not depend on credibility determinations. The error was unimportant to the issue of identity. Any violation of the privilege was harmless.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED FUNDAMENTAL ERROR BY NOT *SUA SPONTE* GIVING A SPECIAL JURY INSTRUCTION ON THE HEAT-OF-PASSION DEFENSE? (Restated)

Kaczmar asserts the trial court committed fundamental error by not giving a special jury instruction on heat-of-passion. This issue is not preserved. Defense counsel did not request a heat-of-passion jury instruction either orally or in writing. Even if the claim had been preserved, Kaczmar was not entitled to a heat-of-passion instruction. First, heat-of-passion is not a defense to felony murder. Moreover, the defendant was not entitled to a heat-of-passion jury instruction even on the premeditated theory of first-degree because, even under his version of events, there was no adequate provocation. The law does not recognize a victim of a felony physically resisting that felony as a type of provocation. The trial court properly instructed the jury. There was no error, much less fundamental error.

The trial court's ruling

There is no ruling from the trial court on whether the proposed special jury instruction on heat-of-passion is a correct statement of the law or whether the defendant was entitled to such a jury

- 51 -

instruction under his version of events because defense counsel did not propose a special jury instruction on heat-of-passion.

Preservation

This issue is not preserved. Kaczmar did not submit in writing a special jury instruction on heat-of-passion to the trial court as required by the rule. Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.390(c). The requirement that any proposed special jury instruction be submitted in writing is not a technical one. The purpose of the writing requirement is that trial courts should not be placed in the position of having to guess what wording would satisfy defense counsel. Trial courts should not have to do defense counsel's homework for him. If defense counsel wishes to have a heat-of-passion instruction he must do the hard work of formulating one, so the trial court can rule whether it is a correct statement of the law of heat-of-passion and whether such an instruction is warranted.

None of this occurred in the trial court. Kaczmar did not submit a heat-of-passion jury instruction to the trial court in writing as required or even orally. This issue is not preserved.

Nor is the issue properly presented on appeal. Even on appeal, Kaczmar still does not state exactly what heat-of-passion jury instruction he believes should have been given. He does not state what elements such a heat-of-passion defense should have contained and how the defendant qualified for such an instruction under those elements. While this Court is in a better position than the trial court because at least the issue is being raised, this Court is only in a marginally better position. This Court cannot determine if the

- 52 -

proposed special jury instruction on heat-of-passion is a correct statement of the law because there is no proposed jury instruction in the initial brief. The State is being put in the position of guessing what the proposed jury instruction on heat-of-passion would have been and then comparing the claim of heat-of-passion to that guess. This is not properly developed and therefore, should not be addressed. *Belcherv. State*, 961 So.2d 239 (Fla. 2007)(finding a claim to be insufficiently pled on appeal where counsel did not articulate why the photograph was particularly inflammatory in the brief). This claim is insufficiently pled on appeal as well as unpreserved. Standard of review

Normally, the standard of review for a trial court decision to give or refuse to give a special jury instruction is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Durousseau v. State*, 55 So.3d 543, 555-556 (Fla. 2010)(observing that the decision to provide a particular instruction to the jury is within the discretion of the trial court); *Hoskins v. State*, 965 So.2d 1, 14 (Fla. 2007)(noting that an appellate court reviews the denial of a requested instruction for an abuse of discretion). However, Kaczmar is raising the issue as one of fundamental error and the standard of review for fundamental error is necessarily *de novo* because there is no ruling from the trial court. *Blackmon v. State*, 58 So.3d 343, 345 (Fla. 1st DCA 2011)(observing that claims of fundamental error are reviewed *de novo*); *Beckham v. State*, 884 So.2d 969, 970 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004)(stating: "We have *de novo* review of the question of law whether the trial court fundamentally erred by failing to give a complete and accurate jury instruction. . . ").

This is one of the myriad of problems with fundamental error. Appellant has obtained a favorable standard of review on appeal from not raising the issue in the trial court than he would be entitled to if he had properly requested the jury instruction in the trial court. This is one of the many reasons why the concept should be limited to the most egregious of errors. This highlights the wisdom of United States Supreme Court's recent statement about how fatal it is to the criminal justice system to extend the fundamental error doctrine to such prototypical trial errors as jury instructions. Puckett v. United States, 556 U.S. 129, -, 129 S.Ct. 1423, 1428, 173 L.Ed.2d 266 (2009) (noting "anyone familiar with the work of courts understands that errors are a constant in the trial process, that most do not much matter, and that a reflexive inclination by appellate courts to reverse because of unpreserved error would be fatal."). Fundamental error

The United States Supreme Court limits claims of structural error in jury instruction to errors in the reasonable doubt instruction. *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275, 113 S.Ct. 2078, 124L.Ed.2d 182 (1993). All other errors are subject to harmless error review including the complete omission of an element of the crime. *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1999); *Mitchell v. Esparza*, 540 U.S. 12, 124 S.Ct. 7, 11, 157 L.Ed.2d 263 (2004).

Florida courts are more generous than federal courts regarding claims of fundamental error. In Florida, only errors in the jury instruction regarding the elements of the crime that the state must prove and that are in dispute are considered candidates for fundamental error. Errors in affirmative defense jury instructions are not fundamental error. Martinez v. State, 981 So. 2d 449, 455 (Fla. 2008)(observing "[w]e have never held that the failure to give an instruction or to give an erroneous instruction on an affirmative defense always constitutes fundamental error" citing Smith v. State, 521 So.2d 106, 108 (Fla. 1988)); Holiday v. State, 753 So.2d 1264, 1270 (Fla. 2000)(holding an erroneous jury instruction on the affirmative defense of entrapment was not fundamental error); Sochor v. State, 619 So.2d 285, 290 (Fla. 1993) (holding a erroneous jury instruction on the affirmative defense of involuntary intoxication was not fundamental error). The error or omission in the affirmative defense of heat-of-passion jury instruction is not fundamental error.

Errors regarding special jury instructions must be preserved. Florida courts do not entertain claims of fundamental error regarding special jury instructions. In *Gavlick v. State*, 740 So.2d 1212, 1213 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), the Second District refused to consider a claim that the trial court erred in failing to give a special jury instruction with an expanded definition of "enterprise" in a fraudulent check passing operation prosecution. The Second District explained that absent special or extenuating circumstances, "the failure to file a written request for a special instruction precludes appellate review, particularly as here, where the oral request was

- 55 -

to redefine an issue covered by the Standard Jury Instructions." Gavlick, 740 So.2d at 1213 (citing Wilson v. State, 344 So.2d 1315 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977) and Holley v. State, 423 So.2d 562 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982)). This claim must be preserved and it was not. The failure to give a special jury instruction is not fundamental error. Merits

To be entitled to a special jury instruction, the defendant must prove that: (1) the special instruction is supported by the evidence; (2) the standard instruction does not adequately cover the theory of defense; and (3) the special instruction is a correct statement of the law and not misleading or confusing." Wheeler v. State, 4 So.3d 599, 605 (Fla. 2009)(quoting Stephens v. State, 787 So.2d 747, 756 (Fla. 2001)). A trial judge is not required to give an instruction where there is no nexus between the evidence in the record and the requested instruction. Wheeler v. State, 4 So.3d 599, 605 (Fla. 2009)(citing Mora v. State, 814 So.2d 322, 330 (Fla. 2002)).

The standard jury instructions are adequate. This Court has rejected claims that a special jury instruction on heat-of-passion was necessary to correctly explain the law even when the issue was preserved. *Coday v. State*, 946 So.2d 988, 995 (Fla. 2006)(finding no abuse of discretion in the trial court decision to deny a special jury instruction on heat-of-passion and concluding that the standard jury instruction on excusable homicide was sufficient to explain heat-of-passion in the context of premeditation relying on *Kilgore v. State*, 688 So.2d 895 (Fla. 1996)). Furthermore, as will be explained in greater detail, any proposed jury instruction on heat-of-passion would not be a correct statement of the law because heat-of-passion is not a defense to felony murder. Nor is Kaczmar's theory of provocation a correct statement of the law. The law does not recognize a victim of a felony physically resisting that felony as a type of provocation.

Heat-of-passion in Florida

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